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Wi CITY
ARG, ENEK , 1946-48( RITHL )

Triangle Redevelopment Project, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1946-48 (unbuilt)

AEEIFSE (Traffic Studies), ZEHREM , 1951-53( KEIT)
Traffic Studies, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1951-53 (not implemented)

KA BALAEE , EINEDL , 1951-63
Mill Creek Project, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1951-63

]2 SCIENCE

TehdEa i, FNER , 1952-57 (REB)
City Tower Project, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1952-57 (unbuilt)

HIZIRBEATTEAME , BE NS, 1957-65
Alfred Newton Richards Medical Research and Biology Building, University of Pennsylvania,
Philadelphia, 1957-65

TR , AR R BT AN SRR, 1965-72
Phillips Exeter Academy, Library and Dining Hall, Exeter, New Hampshire, 1965-72

HREREREEIER , HET5IK e AN ST , 1951-53
Yale University Art Gallery, New Haven, Connecticut, 1951-53

HEE e R EE TG, BRTDIKSEMHEIS ST, 1969-77
Yale Center for British Art, New Haven, Connecticut, 1969-77

{352 HOUSE

PSSR - AP HSEE , BN TR, 1959-62
Margaret Esherick House, Chestnut Hill, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1959-62

AR EUREER - BT, EINSFHOE) , 1960-67

Norman and Doris Fisher House, Hatboro, Pennsylvania, 1960-67

SAFSFBLE AT S L NI | 1971-73
Steven and Toby Korman House, Fort Washington, Pennsylvania, 1971-73

AR, 1944 (REH)
Parasol House, 1944 (unbuilt)



5 LANDSCAPE
S EEA , FENTTR | 1966-72

Kimbell Art Museum, Fort Worth, Texas, 1966-72

WyeA R s, NS | 1959-65
Salk Institute for Biological Studies, La Jolla, California, 1959-65

YIHERC S , ’IFTTR AR, 1961-66( REBL ), ¥ 1 BILEAIE

Levy Memorial Playground, Riverside Park, New York. 1961-66 (unbuilt), With Isamu Noguchi

LB B, i FRENERTE , 1963-69( REEL)

Interama Community B, Miami, Florida, 1963-69 (unbuilt)

HELHEHH COMMUNITY
M —TIREE — 0, NGRS | 1959-62

First Unitarian Church, Rochester, New York, 1959-62

EHEEEk , B REH - 18 A, EMNHEET , 1965-69

The Dominican Motherhouse of St Catherme de Ricci, Media, Pennsylvania, 1965-69

BERHERSR G A, EMNEIK , 1961-72 (CREH)

Mikveh Israel Synagogue, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1961-72 (unbuilt)

FATCRE R &5, DLESIHRE NS , 196774 (CRETHL)

Hurva Synagogue, Jerusalem, Israel, 1967-74 (unbuilt)

WAL LG, TR CRRAIETTFST ), AP , 1954-59

Jewish Community Center, Ewing Township (near Trenton), New Jersey, 1954-59

ANEERRN , SZHERCEM , MR | 1966-72 CREH)
Memorlal to the Six Million Jewish Martyrs, Battery Park, New York, 1966-72 (unbuilt)

Al , BB AR R , EER LN AR LR , 1961-73
Fine Arts Center, School and Performing Arts Theater, Fort Wayne, Indiana, 1961-73

7k ETERNAL PRESENT
EREEBERRE | PR R SR | 1962-74

Indian Institute of Manag t, Ahmedabad, India, 1962-74

HEFRAS AL , SR RBOFRE , SRGE R, 1962-83
Sher-e-Bangla Nagar, Capital of Bangladesh, Dhaka, Bangladesh, 1962-83

WRREsEE - FEWTRPYR S S A E , MAREDTIRE , 1973-2012

Franklin D. Roosevelt Four Freedoms Park, Roosevelt Island, New York, 1973-2012
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Introduction

Louis Kahn (1901-74) was one of the most influential architects of the twentieth century. With
complex spatial compositions and a choreographic mastery of light,

Kahn created buildings of archaic beauty and powerful universal symbolism. His work impacted
many of his contemporaries and still serves today as a model and measure among architects,
especially those of the younger generation.

Kahn’s acclaim is based on a small number of buildings that were erected over a short time period
of just 25 years. While his early work focused on housing and urban planning in his home city of
Philadelphia, he started to gain a worldwide reputation toward the end of the 1950s as an architect
of public edifices. Kahn designed museums, laboratories, schools, churches, synagogues, and even
a national parliament. For a long time he was exclusively active in the USA, yet his later work took
on an increasingly global dimension. Consequently, two of his most important

projects were executed in India and Bangladesh — the Indian Institute of Management in
Ahmedabad (1962-74) and the National Assembly Building in Dhaka (1962-83).

The exhibition presents Kahn’s work within the framework of six central themes, which also
demonstrate the chronological development of his oeuvre: from his pioneering role in the
exploration of science and engineering to his reinterpretation of architectural history; from
his designs for houses in Pennsylvania to his inclusion of nature and landscape as fundamental
elements of architecture; and from his beginnings as an urban planner in Philadelphia to his
interest in the public role and social responsibility of architecture, which culminated in Dhaka.

Kahn regarded himself as part of a tradition that understood architecture not only as a means of
satisfying utilitarian needs, but as an instrument of artistic speculation and a way of contemplating
nature, history and human community. In today’s world, where the act of building is increasingly
subordinated to marketing strategies and financial speculation, Kahn reminds us of the age-old
significance of architecture as the universal conscience of humanity.
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Philadelphia as an Urban Laboratory

As the son of Jewish immigrants from Estonia, Kahn described
the city of Philadelphia, where he grew up, where he studied
architecture, and whete he maintained his office, as a “City of
Opportunities.” For Kahn as an architect, Philadelphia became
a kind of laboratory where he explored the relationship between
architecture and city planning and developed his own urbanistic
and architectural principles.

Urban History

Philadelphia, with its downtown street grid laid out by Thomas
Holme under William Penn in 1683, is the birthplace of American
Independence (1776). By the mid-nineteenth century, the city had
become the capital of America’s machine industry and the third-
largest American city (after New York and Chicago). In 1876
Philadelphia became the host of the first World’s Fair on American
soil. The opening up of Benjamin Franklin Parkway, beginning
1917 (architect Jacques Gréber, 1882—-1962), transformed the
“cradle of the nation” into one of the key sites of the American
City Beautiful movement — just when Kahn became interested in
architecture for the first time.

Urban Decline

Kahn’s generation of architects was confronted with a rapid
decline of the inner city caused by the massive advent of the
automobile and subsequent suburbaniza- tion. Under Edmund

N. Bacon, Director of the City Planning Commission (1949-70),
Philadelphia became a laboratory of contemporary urbanism and a
model for soft urban renewal, guided by the notion of healing “with
penicillin, not surgery.” In the process, the more pragmatic Bacon,
who had been a collaborator of Kahn, became his adversary and
prevented Kahn’s proposals from being realized.

Urban Visions

In spite of this, Kahn played a pioneering role in thinking about
urban development. Starting out with housing projects, during the
1950s and *60s Kahn advocated increasingly radical and visionary
concepts for the reconstruction of Philadelphia’s inner city. Among
his key proposals were a systematic reorganization of urban traffic
(defining the inner city as a large pedestrian zone) and the bold
project of a 180-meter high City Hall Tower. The projected 1976
World’s Fair in Philadelphia, which he envisioned as a “Forum of
Availabilities,” never took place.
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‘I'riangle Redevelopment Project
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1946-48 (unbuilt)

By 1943, the tracks of Broad Street Railway
Station, though no longer in use, divided
downtown Philadelphia west of City Hall
into two disconnected parts. To stitch

the city together again and to develop it was
a priority for the newly founded Philadelphia
City Planning Commission. The ambition
was to transform what looked like “the
largest single space to become available at the
center of an American city in the twenticth
century” into a civic center that would mark
Philadelphia the way Rockefeller Center had
marked New York a decade earlier.

In collaboration with city planner Edmund
N. Bacon, his partner Oscar Stonorov,

and others, Kahn elaborated two proposals
for the creation of what later became “Penn
Center” (1948, 1950). However, what ended
up being built was a compromise between
those ideas and the priorities imposed by the
developers which gradually perverted Bacon’s
and Kahn’s intentions to transform the area
into a spacious civic “forum.” Downtown
became an increasingly amorphous
accumulation of corporate skyscrapers—or,
as architectural historian Manfredo Tafuri
later put it, another demonstration of “the
impossibility of planning the American city.”
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‘L'rathic Studies
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1951-53 (not implemented)

While Penn Center was being built by
commercial architects, Kahn’s work on
Philadelphia took a more theoretical turn.
Side by side, he concentrated a) on the future
Civic Center and in particular a new office
building for the municipal administration
(City Tower) and b) on ways to improve
automobile and pedestrian circulation in the
inner city. Working from ideas developed
carlier by Le Corbusier as well as by the
Planning Department at the University of
Pennsylvania, he redefined the existing street
pattern of the inner city in terms of “rivers”
(Expressways), “canals” (go streets), and
“docks” (culs-de-sac). A defining feature

of Kahn’s traffic studies were the cylindrical
parking structures (“harbors”) wrapped

by shopping centers and hotels that were

to form a security belt around the inner city
to liberate it from automobile traffic. Each
of them was to be as large as the Coliseum
in Rome.
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Mill Creek Project
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1951-63

Having worked on postwar housing
commissions for several years, the develop-
ment of Mill Creek, a neighborhood in
West Philadelphia, was Kahn’s last major
public housing project.

Together with his associates Kenneth Day,
Louis McAllister, Anne Tyng and landscape
architect Christopher Tunnard Kahn
proposed a master plan for the whole Mill
Creek area. This so called ,,Acropolis“ was
an aggregation of high and low rise residential
buildings grouped around a community
center. The buildings were arranged within

a network of green walkways and courtyards.
Three apartment towers, row and twin houses
providing hundreds of housing units

were built in two phases between 1952-54
and 1959-62. The houses were constructed
by combining brick masonry with precast
concrete allowing for rapid and efficient
construction.

The building complex was demolished in 2003
and replaced by new low rise family houses.
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Nature and Design

Kahn’s elemental research on the foundations for a renewal of
architecture was rooted in his conviction that the concepts of
natute and of design are fundamentally intertwined. If biophysics
understands the microscopic building blocks of life as being based
on geometry, why can’t architecture do the same?

Yale University

While teaching at Yale University, Kahn, fascinated by the work
of R. Buckminster Fuller and inspired by architect Anne Tyng,
became incteasingly interested in space frames. The ceiling of the
Yale Art Gallery (1951-53) was a first breakthrough in this regard.
At Yale, Kahn was intermittently teaching together with Josef
Albers. With its basic geometric shapes and the interplay between
figure and ground, surface and space, the art of Albers challenged
human cognition and became an important influence on Kahn’s
architectural compositions of light and shadow, solids and voids.

Engineering

At the age of almost 60, Kahn reached an entirely novel
synthesis of engineering and architecture in the Richards Medical
Laboratories at the University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia
(1957-65), bringing him international fame. Like the Richards
Towers, all of Kahn’s subsequent public buildings are the

result of an intensive collaboration with engineers, including
Robert Le Ricolais (1894-1977), a colleague at the University

of Pennsylvania, and August E. Komendant (1906-92), a fellow
Estonian immigrant. Le Ricolais’s fascination with structures of
maximum span and minimum weight and his scientific structural
stress tests became a key element of Kahn’s architectural thinking.
Komendant helped Kahn develop new ways of building with
concrete.

City Hall Tower and DNA Formula

Kahn’s “structuralist” approach reached its most radical form in his
project for a 180-meter high office tower next to the Philadelphia
City Hall (195257, designed in collaboration with Anne Tyng).
The double helix that underlies its space frame structure directly
evokes the DNA formula discovered by the American biologist
James D. Watson and the British physicist Francis Crick in 1953.
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City Tower Project,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1952-57 (unbuilt)

The City Tower was meant to become the seat
of Philadelphia’s municipal administration
and a landmark, but it remained unbuilt.

Its daring triangular structure of reinforced
concrete was in large part determined by
Anne Tyng’s interest in spaceframes. In 1957
Kahn and Tyng created a model of the tower
with nine main floors and three half floors
sandwiched in between each two. With a total
height of 616 feet the twisting tower would
have offered 3,000,000 square feet of floor
space and a maximum ceiling height of

55 feet for public spaces and assembly. Kahn
envisioned the fagade to be a lacey network
of aluminum reflecting the sunlight.

In retrospect, the project stands out as a bold
experiment in bio-technics that was to inspire
Kisho Kurokawa and other protagonists

of the Japanese Metabolist movement. It took
decades until similar solutions were actually
built.
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Alfred Newton Richards Medical

Research and Biology Building

University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia,
1957-65

With this laboratory building for the medical
faculty at the University of Pennsylvania,

Kahn achieved his international breakthrough.

Architects flocked to see the construction
site and architectural magazines both in the
US and overseas reported enthusiastically
about it.

Kahn conceived of an agglomeration of
towers in which the labs were layered on top
of one another like tablets. According to
Kahn’s concept of the “servant” and “served”
spaces, three towers are grouped around

a “servant” space tower housing basic
plumbing, building services, and animal
cages. The stairwell towers are docked on

the outside of the laboratory towers.

With the help of the engineer August

E. Komendant, Kahn planned the support
structure of the towers using prefabricated
and post-tensioned concrete Vierendeel
trusses, to be rapidly assembled, Tinkertoy
fashion, by crane. The visible supporting
structure of concrete elements contrasts
with the red, non-load bearing brick fagades.
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Phillips Exeter Academy

Library and Dining Hall,

Exeter, New Hampshire
1965-72

Phillips Exeter Academy, a private high
school founded in the eighteenth century,
commissioned Kahn in the mid-1960s to
design a new school library as the intellectual
center of the school community. The project
was based on a simple concept: library users
were invited to select a book and then go

to the windows to read in the natural light.
Based on this idea, the building is divided
into three layers: at the center is a large
entrance hall, as a site of encounter and ex-
change, from which the surrounding holdings
of 250,000 books can be seen. They are
housed within what Kahn used to call

a “concrete donut” to protect them from the
sunlight. A “brick donut” finally surrounds
that core, containing more than 200
naturally lit library carrels. Besides the
library, Kahn also planned the school dining
hall.
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Yale University Art Gallery
New Haven, Connecticut
1951-53

Kahn began teaching at Yale University in
1947. During his stay as Architect in
Residence at the American Academy in Rome,
he received the commission to plan the

Yale University Art Gallery, as an expansion
of a neo-Gothic building of the 1920s which
had remained incomplete. The commission
was an important stage in Kahn’s career, and
for the university it was a decisive step toward
the architectural renewal and modernization
of the campus.

The fagades of Yale University Art Gallery are
made of brick and glass. A striking triangular
reinforced concrete ceiling inspired by
Richard Buckminster Fuller’s space-frames

is the dominating feature of the interior. Due
to its depth, it can house lighting, electric
wiring, and ventilation. The Yale University
Art Gallery was one of Kahn’s first projects
that assigned the mechanical services a

place of their own in the spatial makeup of

a building.
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From Functionalism to Regional Planning

All of the houses built by Kahn were realized in and around
Philadelphia. Like the church, the city hall or the museum, Kahn
envisioned the house as an institution: the smallest architectural
entity, from which society and built surroundings are experienced.

House, a House, Home

Kahn’s architectural exploration of human habitation spanned four
decades and circled around three notions. Kahn spoke of “house”
as the abstract principle or archetype of a house, timelessly valid,
not only for the initial inhabitants of a space but also for all who
followed. Whereas “a house” refers to the individual form, to

the realization of “house” according to the client’s requirements.
In Kahn’s terminology, “home” refers to what the occupants
personally make of the house.

Order and Freedom of Spaces

Kahn not only understood the house as the nucleus of a
settlement or city, he was also convinced that both should be
similarly conceived, comparing the floor plan of a house with the
map of a city. While he developed some of his floor plans with the
aid of grids, others were created in a free assembly of volumes in
relation to each other, inspired by early Pilgrim settlements in New
England. In his plans Kahn did not wish to predetermine the use
of each room — this was to reveal itself from the architecture of
the space.

Arts and Crafts

Kahn’s houses, predominantly constructed from and furnished
with wood, show the influence of the American Arts and Crafts
Movement. The movement had many exponents in and around
Philadelphia, among them the artist and sculptor Wharton
Esherick, with whom Kahn collaborated while planning the house
for his niece, Margaret Esherick. Stylistically, Kahn was particularly
inspired by the simplicity of Shaker furniture and interiors.
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Margaret Esherick House
Chestnut Hill, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1959-62

Norman and Doris Fisher House
Hatboro, Pennsylvania
1960-67

Steven and Toby Korman House
Fort Washington, Pennsylvania

1971-73

The Esherick House presents a rigorously
closed facade toward the street and an openly
fenestrated garden elevation. The shadows

of surrounding trees enliven the sand-finished
stucco surfaces. Deeply recessed windows
provide light and natural ventilation. The
finely crafted interiors were designed by Kahn
and sculptor Wharton Esherick.

The Fisher House, designed by Kahn over the
course of seven years, consists of two wood-
sheathed cubes that adapt to the sloped

site and meet at offset corners in a 45° angle.
One of them contains bedrooms and bath-
rooms, the other the living room, dining area,
and kitchen. The living tract is two stories
high and sits on exposed foundation walls
constructed of local stone.

The generously proportioned Korman House,
built for a family with three sons, stands

in the tradition of great American country
estates. Three chimneys mark and frame the
public areas that look out onto expansive

lawns.
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Parasol House
1944 (unbuilt)

The name, Parasol House, is derived from

its basic module, an industrially prefabricated
roof element that was shaped like a metal
umbrella with a single supporting column.
Wall elements of varying transparency and
prefabricated functional units could be added
to the orthogonal grid of the floor plan

to create individual rooms.

The design was initiated by a commission
from furniture manufacturer Hans Knoll,
who had invited Kahn and his partner Oscar
Stonorov as well as six other architects and
designers to participate in a competition for
new “equipment for living.” The winning
design was to be manufactured by an aircraft
corporation offering its facilities for peacetime
production after the end of World War II.
Despite his project not being chosen, Kahn
continued to explore the possibilities of this
design to create two-story houses as well

as row houses.
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Earth, Water, Wind, Light

Nature was a key element in Kahn’s architecture, not only in
structural terms but also in the sense of embedding his buildings
in the landscape. How does a building respond to the vagaries of
sun, water, wind? How does it relate to the topography and the
physiology of a site? And, finally, how does it provide people with
work and help vernacular building traditions survive?

Landscape and History

Inspired by the architect George Patton (1920-91) and later by the
landscape architect Harriet Pattison, Kahn turned to landscape
architecture of the Renaissance and to the building traditions of
antiquity and the Middle East in order to understand a building’s
relation to its site. These explorations were vividly illustrated by
Kahn’s travel drawings. In his own designs, Kahn treated grounds
and gardens as “natural” extensions of his buildings (Kimbell Art
Museum, Fort Worth, Texas, 1966—72). He created architecture as
a stage activated by nature’s ever changing spectacles (Salk Institute
for Biological Studies, 1959—65) or subjected the site altogether to
a sculptural treat- ment (Adele Levy Memorial Playground, New
York, 196166, with Isamu Noguchi, unbuilt). Beginning with his
houses built in and around Philadelphia, tradition and regional
construction methods became increasingly important in his late
buildings in South- east Asia.

“Ruins Wrapped Around Buildings”
At the same time, Kahn developed a sophisticated choreography
of natural light to illustrate and dramatize these concerns: an
interior, he insisted, only becomes an architectural space through
the diffusion and reflection of sunlight. In the Meeting House at
the Salk Institute in La Jolla (1965; unbuilt) a second layer of outer
walls resembling windowless ruins was to provide aeration and to
protect the building from direct sunlight. In Kahn’s buildings in
hot climate zones, in India and Bangladesh, this type of passive
climate control came to full effect.
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Kimbell Art Museum
Fort Worth, Texas
1966-72

Working closely with landscape architects
George E. Patton and Harriet Pattison,
Kahn arranged the museum in a stepped,
park-like setting. The introverted building
is approached in a processional manner:
Visitors follow walkways lined by grids of
trees and a sunken sculpture garden before
passing vaulted loggias flanked by reflecting
pools of cascading water.

The composition of the plan evolved from

a square and an H-shape to the final C-shape.

Despite the complexity of this process the
design development was more section- than
plan-based. This is documented by numerous
studies of semi-elliptical, semicircular or
even V-shaped vaults.

The starting point for Kahn’s successive
scheme of cycloid concrete vaults was the
idea to bring the change of day, weather,
and seasons into the museum. By a skylight
slot at the apex of each vault and wing-like
aluminum reflectors beneath, the gallery
space is animated with diffuse ever-changing
natural light in which artworks are best
viewed.
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Salk Institute for Biological Studies
La Jolla, California
1959-65

Jonas Salk (1914-95) discovered the first
effective polio vaccine. When the famous
medical scientist and bacteriologist decided to
build a laboratory on a coastal cliff north

of San Diego, a friend, after attending a
lecture by Kahn on “Order in Science and
Art,” recommended him as architect. In
what would become one of the most mythical
client-architect relationships, Salk asked
Kahn to design a research facility to which

he could invite Picasso.

The final scheme consists of two laboratory
wings with six floors. Service floors,
contained in Vierendeel trusses, are sand-
wiched between the labs (another and most
successful variation on the theme of “servant”
and “served” spaces). The design of the court
with its study towers facing the sea remained
undetermined until the Mexican architect
Luis Barragan, having been invited by

Kahn to visit the site, proposed keeping it

as an open plaza.

Residential facilities that Kahn designed
following his notion of “wrapping ruins
around buildings,” and a meeting house for
the exchange between scientists and cultural
leaders, remained unbuilt.
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Levy Memorial Playground
Riverside Park, New York
1961-66 (unbuilt)
With Isamu Noguchi

Kahn was familiar with Isamu Noguchi’s
work from the early 1930s, when he had
seen an exhibition of sculptures and drawings
in Philadelphia. Noguchi’s “Play Mountain”
for a New York city block, a proposal

that had been rejected by New York Parks
Commissioner Robert Moses in 1934,

is typical of Noguchi’s early interest in play-
grounds.

In the early 1960s, when Noguchi was
approached by philanthropist Audrey Hess
to design a playground for New York’s
Riverside Park (in memory of her aunt Adele
Rosenwald-Levy), he invited Kahn to join
him. The artist and the architect collaborated
over five years, creating more than a dozen
models, sculpting the surface of the earth

to create a new kind of playscape, reminiscent
of ancient cult sites. The project remained
unbuilt but was influential in furthering

the development of creative, non-standard
playgrounds.
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Interama Community B
Miami, Florida
1963-69 (unbuilt)

First plans for a Panamerican cultural center
in Miami, Florida, were published in 1950.
Following the Cuban missile crisis (1962),
the American government decided to support
the project financially as part of its cold war
policy: Interama was promoted as a showcase
of Central and Latin American countries
presenting their culture and traditions—and
as a hub of the “free world.”

Louis Kahn was part of an “all star team”

of architects including Marcel Breuer, Paul
Rudolph, and Josep Lluis Sert who were
invited to design the 680-acre complex with
public plazas, exhibition and assembly spaces,
as well as housing for international delegates
and students. The centerpiece would have
been a 1000-foot “Tower of Freedom”

by Minoru Yamaski. Due to lack of funding
and support from the participating countries
the project was disbanded in the mid-1970s.
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THE LOGIC OF ASSEMBLY

What can architecture ultimately achieve? It offers a place for
people to meet, work, and live together and it creates institutions
that establish a sense of identity. While this notion guided Kahn’s
early preoccupation with urban planning in Philadelphia, it reached
its apotheosis in Kahn’s late and largest projects in India and
Bangladesh — both city-like complexes.

"What a Building Wants to Be"

Like people, building parts also meet, work, and connect.
Atrchitecture is about the assembly of architectural volumes and
spaces and their arrangement within a floor plan. For Kahn, the
initial question is about “what a building wants to be.” By grouping
patts, either on a symmetrical axis or around a central point in a
seemingly coincidental manner, an answer begins to crystallize.
The process can take years. The International Style believed in
open, flowing, and polyvalent spaces. Kahn worked with distinctive
rooms as elements of a potentially open-ended system, as in the
Trenton Bath House and Community Center (1954-59) and in
Erdmann Hall at Bryn Mawr College (1960-65). Elsewhere he

let units of different size form a loose agglomeration, as with the
project for the Dominican Motherhouse of St. Catherine de Ricci
in Media, Pennsylvania (1965-69).

"Servant" and "Served" Spaces

Kahn created a hierarchy of spaces within an overall form. He
distinguished between “servant” and “served” spaces, starting
with an all-encompassing superior order as a generative system for
the layout that contains technical installations, utility systems, and
circulation areas in a building,

House, Neighborhood, City

In the Anglo-Saxon tradition, the neighborhood idea is key to
urbanism. Planning is about forming a neighborhood. Kahn’s
architecture reflects that spirit. A church (Unitarian Church,
Rochester, New York, 1959-62), a university campus (Indian
Institute of Management, Ahmedabad, 1962-74), and a capital
complex (Sher-e-Bangla Nagar, Dhaka, 1962-83) were designed to
facilitate a maximum of open-ended interactions among people.
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First Unitarian Church
Rochester, New York
1959-62

The First Unitarian Church was for Kahn
the key example for his theory of “form”

as opposed to “design.” From the outset he
proposed a centralized and symmetrical plan
which he defined as the building’s “form.”
The client, in turn, required a building
with two separate wings for an auditorium
and a school. In a series of programmatic
concept sketches Kahn followed the client’s
suggestions but ended up arranging the
classrooms freely around the sanctuary,
arguing that the sanctuary might in such

a way address questions that were raised in
class. His final design, a loosely elongated
scheme, resulted from the combination of his
original “form”-concept and the “circum-
stantial demands” imposed by the client.
This process he called “design.”

Colorful wall tapestries woven by Jack Lenor
Larsen decorate the sanctuary in an effort to
help distribute the light that enters through
the skylights of the four towers.



EE ik
SRR - 1 - e, EONIME T
1965-69

L AE B BIGERIEET b - FRAYZERY
ik & B ARRY LSS 2] T ek H AR
R (E SRR LR T R 2 i
FAHBEE" o TEE NIRRT — 2 i iR
FrigdE—FrEEhs - BEREAM 120 {7
&2 - BEFE— i  — A
HRIHE - —MIEEE - SN - 12
1966 % 68 FEMBRSERL T 900 Z iR EEl
PR ~ o [EE R R IR I
(EPNEE RS SR NP AS S
FEEaa e - MAJEEET 90 & -
NI E AR PR 55 —3% - 1%
HRAALAHERI P BRE » WAl A S P =
ARERARIEIMNAL » BEREEER AR
PR DU 1960 FEARA e il P Ao esci
A -

The Dominican Motherhouse of
St Catherine de Ricci
Media, Pennsylvania

1965-69 (unbuilt)

With the Dominican Motherhouse project
Kahn gave full expression to his “society of
rooms” idea, in which discrete spaces “speak
to each other.” Planned for an idyllic site

in rural Pennsylvania, the monastery was to
include dormitories for 120 sisters, a chapel,
an auditorium, classrooms, a library, and a
refectory. From early 1966 to late 1968 over
nine hundred sketches, drawings, and prints
were made. Constant elements were bars
containing private cells, positioned in relation
to an existing forest, and juxtaposed to the
individually shaped communal spaces. In the
design development the cells were turned

90° and the communal spaces—originally on
the other side of a generous open court—
were pulled inwards to be themselves framed
by the cells. The project was cancelled due to
the drop in numbers of new postulants and
general reforms to monastic life in the 1960s.
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Mikveh Israel Synagogue
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1961-72 (unbuilt)

Mikveh Israel is Philadelphia’s oldest
synagogue. In the 1960s, the congregation
wished to return to the city center, where

it had been founded in 1740. The proposed
construction site was located directly on
Independence Mall and met the desire for

a Jewish presence near this “birthplace of the
nation.” Kahn saw the project as an
opportunity to participate in the architectural
redevelopment of Philadelphia’s downtown
area, from which he was otherwise excluded.
Over eleven years, he developed six different
schemes. In the most elaborate scheme,

the chapel and sanctuary are flanked by light
towers 17 meters high which, glazed on

the outside and open on the inside, form

an ambulatory. Kahn, who always had

a distanced relationship to religious ritual,
chose this form in an effort to make the
spiritual quality of light palpable. The project
could not be realized for lack of financing.

It was one of Kahn’s greatest disappoint-
ments.
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Hurva Synagogue
Jerusalem, Israel
1967-74 (unbuilt)

The name Hurva (Hebrew for “ruin”)

refers to the eighteenth-century synagogue
destroyed during conflicts between Jews and
Arabs. A later synagogue suffered the same
fate in 1948. After the Six Day War in 1967,
a new synagogue was to be erected in the
same location. Kahn proposed to keep

the synagogue ruins as a garden and to build
the new Hurva next to it. His design was
based on an inner and outer building: on
the outside, he planned 16 pylons, each 18
meters high, made of large local stones. On
the inside, he proposed four huge reinforced
concrete umbrellas with roofs shaped as
inverted pyramids and bases framing the
sanctuary.

Placed on a hill across from the Temple

on the Mount, the Hurva would have formed
a monumental counterweight to the Dome
of the Rock. Mayor Teddy Kollek called

it “a world synagogue.” It was never built.
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Jewish Community Center
Ewing Township (near Trenton),
New Jersey

1954-59

The Jewish Community Center was to
include a community building, a bath house
for the community pool, and a day camp
but only the two subsidiary buildings were
realized. The commission was a major
turning point in Kahn’s work because of

its underlying modular thinking relating to
science (probably the contribution by Anne
Tyng).

The bath house is based on a Greek-cross
plan, with four equal square pavilions covered
by pyramidal roofs grouped around a central
open space. Hollow corner piers made of
cheap standard concrete blocks both support
the roofs and allow for circulation and
services. A mural at the entrance serves as

the only decoration.

Juxtaposed to the strict geometry of the
bath house is the day camp, with four open
pavilions arranged in seemingly random
order. The unbuilt community building
was conceived as a potentially expandable
structure made of loosely agglomerated
modular units.
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Memorial to the Six Million

Jewish Martyrs

Battery Park, New York
1966-72 (unbuilt)

In 1967 the Jewish Committee, an umbrella
organization comprised of thirty Jewish
organizations in the United States,
commissioned Kahn to build a Holocaust
Monument in Battery Park on the southern
tip of Manhattan. From the very beginning
Kahn envisioned a monument made of glass.
Since massive glass cubes could not be
realized for technical reasons, after a visit

to the Corning Glass Company he decided
to create cubes using individual glass bricks.
A first sketch included nine glass cubes

each twelve feet square and fifteen feet tall,
arranged in a checkerboard pattern. Since

in Jewish numerology the number nine is
associated with human birth—that is, a happy
event—the design was rejected by the clients.
Kahn’s second proposal was based on six
closed cubes grouped around a central

open cube that would have served as a small
chapel. Due to lack of funds, the project was
never realized.
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Fine Arts Center,
School and Performing Arts Theater
Fort Wayne, Indiana

1961-73

When the Fine Arts Foundation of Fort
Wayne approached Kahn to design a fine arts
center for the city of 180,000 inhabitants,
the project was to include a philharmonic
concert hall, an art school, a school of music,
two museums, and a theatre. As sketches

and models show, Kahn’s concept for this
ambitious program was based on the interplay
of solids and voids in basic geometric shapes.
Kahn referred to them as an entity where
each building depends on the other, the sum
being greater than its parts. Unfortunately,
the complex, as envisioned by Kahn, exceeded
the projected budget by ten times. Only the
Performing Arts Theater was eventually
built: a concrete concert hall protected from
the noises of the nearby railroad by a brick
envelope. Kahn liked to compare it to a
violin in a violin case: “A musical instrument
containing people.”
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Ruins and Archetypes

The International Style defined buildings as open, lightweight
structures and believed in industrial prefabrication of building
patts. Kahn returned mass and weight to architecture. In Modern
Architecture, a building had first to be contemporary. Kahn opened
up ways of reassessing history — not by copying styles but by
addressing fundamentals of spatial order and formal composition.
The result was a new presence of the symbolic and the monumental
in architecture.

Rome and Ruins

Kahn’s travels to Italy, Greece, and Egypt were formative for his
architectural thinking, as his travel drawings so vividly show. As a
fellow at the American Academy in Rome (1950-51), Kahn came to
see the ruins of imperial Rome as quintessential demonstrations of
how buildings are put together. In the ruins of abandoned buildings,
free of plaster and ornamentation, he recognized architectural
structure in its most unadulterated form. This viewpoint, coupled
with the architect’s aim to achieve a timeless, sacred quality, is
reflected in the austerity and elemental materiality of many buildings
by Kahn. Compared to brick ruins from antiquity, Kahn’s buildings
in India and Bangladesh have the pathos of construction sites
arrested in time. They could be seen as “ruins in reverse.”

Piranesi

A print of Giovanni Battista Piranesi’s imaginary scheme of the
Campo Marzio in Rome decorated Kahn’s office for many years.
What interested Kahn was both the “utopian” reconstruction of
a lost part of Rome in an abstract geometry, and the fact that it
is engraved on a fragment from an ancient building, an antique
marble slab. In hindsight, the geometry of Piranesi’s fictional city
plan reverberates with the concentric organization of the Dhaka
Assembly Building (1962-74).

Sphere, Cylinder, Cube

Like the ideal architectures of the “Revolutionary Architects”
Etienne Louis Boullée (1728-99) and Claude Nicolas Ledoux
(1736-1806), who were rediscovered around 1930, Kahn’s best-
known works live by the magic of sphere, cylinder, and cube. That
makes them both modern and classic.
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Indian Institute of Management
Ahmedabad, India
1962-74

The Indian Institute of Management was
modeled on Harvard Business School and
intended to educate the young Indian
business elite. The institution’s benefactors
included the Sarabhai family, which had
already commissioned Le Corbusier to

do three projects in Ahmedabad. When the
clients turned to the Indian architect
Balkrishna Doshi, who had worked with
Le Corbusier, he suggested Kahn.

Kahn began with the idea of a monastery—
i.e. a complex that is closed in itself and
autonomous. Main elements of the campus
include a rectangular school building

with classrooms, a library, and a dining hall,
as well as student dormitories, arranged

at 45° angles, and apartments for faculty.

Foyers, courtyards, and corridors are
conceived as meeting areas that encourage
social interaction among students. At Doshi’s
suggestion, Kahn turned the first site plan
90°, to make better use of prevailing winds
to cool the buildings. Kahn chose brick as

a construction method typical of the region.
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Sher-e-Bangla Nagar,

Capital of Bangladesh

Dhaka, Bangladesh
1962-83

The government complex in what is today
Dhaka, Bangladesh, was Kahn’s greatest and
most demanding commission. At the time

he received it, Pakistan consisted of a western
part with Islamabad as its capital, and an
eastern part with Dhaka as its capital.

The center of the complex is the National
Assembly Building, structured axially
around a central point. The plenary hall is
surrounded by a generous ambulatory.
Around it are grouped eight building
elements. The Muslim prayer hall to the
south is the only one that diverges from the
general axis and faces Mecca. Along the
water, residences and office buildings form

a V-shape. The pool was created by the local
technique of “dig and mound.” Buildings
were erected on the excavated earth to
protect them from the flooding that regularly
plagues the country.

In 1971 East Pakistan declared its indepen-
dence and was renamed Bangladesh. Today,
the complex is one of the few remaining open
spaces in the city and as such is very popular
with the local population. Here, Kahn’s
elemental formal vocabulary, his complex
spatial compositions and his choreographic
mastery of light reached its climax. Hence,
Kahn’s expressive architecture became the
symbol of a young nation.
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Franklin D. Roosevelt

Four Freedoms Park

Roosevelt Island, New York
1973-2012

Roosevelt Island (formerly Welfare Island)

is a narrow strip of land, three kilometers
long, situated in the middle of the

East River, New York. In 1973 Governor
Nelson Rockefeller and New York Mayor
Lindsay jointly announced the Franklin

D. Roosevelt Four Freedoms Park to be built
on the southern tip of the Island, facing the
United Nations Secretariat across the river.
As key elements of the park, Kahn, in close
collaboration with land-scape architect
Harriet Pattison, envisioned a room as “the
beginning of architecture” and a garden as
“the gathering of nature.” The garden is
lined by two rows of linden and beech trees.
Initially Kahn designed a 20 meter high room
made of steel. In a later version the room was
to be built with concrete baldachinos. The
final version of the room, built with massive
granite stones, shelters a bronze head of
President Franklin D. Roosevelt, modeled

in 1933 by the American portrait sculptor,
Jo Davidson (1883-1952).

After more than three decades the park was
realized posthumously and completed in the
fall of 2012.
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